JAN WADE HENSLEY Mayor



LISA S. ELAM Recorder-Treasurer

City of Covington

POST OFFICE BOX 768 200 West Washington Avenue, Covington, Tennessee 38019 Telephone (901) 476-9613 Fax (901) 476-6699

THE MEETING OF THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, TENNESSEE ON MAY 13, 2025, AT 5:30 P.M.

- 1. Meeting to be called to order by Mayor Jan Hensley.
- 2. Invocation to be given by Alderman Jeff Morris.
- 3. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag to be led by Alderwoman Margaret Fleming.
- 4. Minutes of the Preceding Meeting to be approved.
- 5. Report from Committees:
- Minutes of Public Safety Committee
- 6. Additions to the Agenda.
- 7. Welcome to visitors and grievances from citizens.
- 8. Report from Mayor Jan Hensley: Updates
- Report from Recorder-Treasurer Lisa Elam.
 Sales Tax Report
- 10. Report from City Attorney Rachel Simmons.
- 11. Old Business:
- 12. New Business:

- Ordinance 1788 An Ordinance to Amend the Covington Municipal Zoning Map to Rezone Property at Mueller Brass Road and Mt Carmel Road From R-2 (City/Medium Density Residential) District To B-2 (City/Highway Oriented Business) District ready for approval on the first reading.

JAN WADE HENSLEY Mayor



LISA S. ELAM Recorder-Treasurer

City of Covington

POST OFFICE BOX 768 200 West Washington Avenue, Covington, Tennessee 38019 Telephone (901) 476-9613 Fax (901) 476-6699

....CONTINUED

- Ordinance 1789 An Ordinance to Amend the Municipal Zoning Ordinance Of Covington, Tennessee: Amending Text of The Zoning Ordinance by Establishing Standards for A Pd (Planned District Development) District ready for approval on the first reading.

- Proclamation for National Public Works Week 2025

- Electric Board Appointments

- Bills Over/Under \$1,000.00 ready for Board Approval.

The Board of Mayor and Aldermen met at City of Covington on April 22, 2025, at 5:30 p.m. with the following members present: Mayor Jan Hensley, Alderman CH Sullivan, Alderman Jeff Morris, Alderman John Edwards, and Alderwoman Margaret Fleming. Also present were Public Works Director Tim Haynes, Park and Recreation Director Molly Glass, Police Chief Donna Turner, Building Official Lessie Fisher, Record Clerk David Gwinn, Human Resource Director Cody Bumpus, Assistant to the Mayor Jason Fleming, City Attorney Rachel Simmons and Recorder-Treasurer Lisa Elam.

Meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan Hensley.

Invocation was given by Alderman C H Sullivan.

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Alderman Danny Wallace.

Motion was made by Alderman Edwards and seconded by Alderman Morris that the Minutes of the proceeding Board of Mayor and Alderman Meeting be approved.

Motion passed.

Motion was made by Alderwoman Johnson and seconded by Alderman Sullivan to approve the Minutes from Public Relations Committee be approved.

Motion passed.

Motion was made by Alderman Sullivan and seconded by Alderman Wallace to approve the Minutes from Finance and Administration Committee be approved.

Motion passed.

Chief Executive Officer of the Boys & Girls Club of the Hatchie River Region, Ed Doyle requested permission to host a baby shower at the facility.

Motion was made by Alderman Edwards and seconded by Alderman Sullivan to approve the request made to use the Boys and Girls Club Facility to host a baby shower.

Motion passed.

Chief Executive Officer Doyle announced the Reading Success Academy will be starting at the Girls and Boys Club in August. The facility will have two Reading Specialists. Ford Blue Oval agreed to fund the program cost. CEO Doyle rewarded 2 children: Harold Yancey received April Youth of the month and Serenity Currin Junior Youth of the year.

Mayor Hensley announced that the Mueller Ballfields are now open. Mayor Hensley invited all citizens to attend the World's Oldest Bar-B-Que Festival held at the Cobb Parr Park on May 30th and 31st. Mayor Hensley also announced the Tipton County Museum will host the Bird Festival on May 2nd thru May 4th. Mayor Hensley announced the Robinson Foundation will match every dollar donated to the Boys and Girls Club up to \$400,000 a year.

Treasurer-Recorder Lisa Elam reported the sales tax received for the January collections were \$422,051.29, which is an INCREASE of \$41,145 or 10.8%. Year-to-date collections for fiscal year 2025 are \$2,944,782 which is an INCREASE of \$35,152 or 1.2%.

Motion was made by Alderman Sullivan and seconded by Alderman Morris to approve the report from Treasurer-Recorder Lisa Elam on Sales Tax. Motion passed.

City Attorney Simmons reported to the Board that the City of Covington received an application for a Class A- Manufacturers permit for intoxicating liquor from Mr. Darren Chaney to operate 797 Distillery. Attorney Simmons reported that the City has never issued a Class A permit for intoxicating liquors, but that Mr. Chaney has received a Manufacturers permit from the Tennessee Alcoholic Beverage Commission, a permit for distilled spirits from the Department of Treasury-Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau, and a contract with a licensed wholesaler. Other types of intoxicating liquor permits usually require a Certificate of Compliance from the municipality before the ABC will issue permits, but that is not required for a manufacturers permit. The application to the City is simply to approve a permit to operate the distillery and receive the annual liquor inspection fee imposed by state law and local ordinance. All other oversight, inspection, and annual license renewal is handled by the TN Alcoholic Beverage Commission

Motion was made by Alderman Sullivan and seconded by Alderman Morris to approve Attorney Simmons report. Motion passed. Motion was made by Alderman Sullivan and seconded by Alderwoman Johnson to approve the application for a Class A- Manufacturers permit for intoxicating liquor from Mr. Darren Chaney to operate 797 Distillery. Motion passed.

Alderman Edwards requested and update on the building located on N. Main. Director Fisher reported ECD has approved the bid and will run in Thursdays Leader.

Resolution NO. 04082025-2 Initial Resolution Authorizing the Incurrence of Indebtedness by The City of Covington, Tennessee, Of Not to Exceed \$4,000,000, By the Execution with The Public Building Authority of The City Of Clarksville, Tennessee, Of A Loan Agreement to Provide Funding for A Project for The Covington Electric System

Motion was made by Alderman Edwards and seconded by Alderman Morris to approve Resolution NO. 04082025-2 Initial Resolution Authorizing the Incurrence of Indebtedness by The City of Covington, Tennessee, Of Not To Exceed \$4,000,000, By The Execution With The Public Building Authority Of The City Of Clarksville, Tennessee, Of A Loan Agreement To Provide Funding For A Project For The Covington Electric System, Presented by Covington Electric General Manager Will White. Motion passed unanimously.

Resolution NO. 04082025-3 Authorizing A Loan Pursuant to A Loan Agreement Between The City Of Covington, Tennessee, And The Public Building Authority Of The City Of Clarksville, Tennessee, In The Principal Amount of Not To Exceed \$4,000,000; Authorizing The Execution And Delivery Of A Loan Agreement And Other Documents Relating To Said Loan; Providing For The Application Of The Proceeds Of Said Loan And The Payment Of Such Indebtedness; Consenting To The Assignment Of the City's Obligation Under Such Loan Agreement; And, Certain Other Matters

Motion was made by Alderwoman Johnson and seconded by Alderman Sullivan to approve Resolution NO. 04082025-3 Authorizing A Loan Pursuant to A Loan Agreement Between The City Of Covington, Tennessee, And The Public Building Authority Of The City Of Clarksville, Tennessee, In The Principal Amount of Not To Exceed \$4,000,000; Authorizing The Execution And Delivery Of A Loan Agreement And Other Documents Relating To Said Loan; Providing For The Application Of The Proceeds Of Said Loan And The Payment Of Such Indebtedness; Consenting To The Assignment Of the City's Obligation Under Such Loan Agreement; And, Certain Other Matters, Presented by Covington Electric General Manager Will White. Motion passed unanimously.

Contract Estimate for North Entrance Steps, West Entrance Steps 209 W Pleasant Ave.

Moton was made by Alderman Morris and seconded by Alderman Sullivan to approve the Contract Estimate for North Entrance Steps; West Entrance Steps 209 W Pleasant Ave. presented by Director Fisher. Motion passed with Alderman Wallace voting Nay.

Bid Proposal for HVAC at 209 W Pleasant Ave.

Motion was made by Alderman Morris and seconded by Alderman Edwards to approve the Bid Proposal for HVAC at 209 W Pleasant Ave. presented by Director Fisher.

Motion passed with Alderman Wallace voting Nay.

Bills Over/Under \$1,000.00 ready for Board approval.

Motion was made by Alderman Edwards and seconded by Alderman Wallace to pay Bills Over/Under \$1,000.00. Motion passed.

With there being no further business the meeting adjourned at 6:05 p.m.

	Department(s)	Aay-2025 Description	Amount
LESSIE FISHER	CODES	TRAVEL	255.1
BRENNTAG MID SOUTH	WWTP	CHEMICALS	5,799.0
G & C SUPPLY CO INC	GAS	MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	1,570.0
G & C SUPPLY CO INC	WATER		-
		MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	1,300.0
G & C SUPPLY CO INC	GAS	MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	1,086.5
REPUBLIC SERVICES	WWTP	SLUDGE REMOVAL	3,799.3
REPUBLIC SERVICES	WWTP	SLUDGE REMOVAL	5,151.1
UTILITY SERVICE CO INC	WTP	FILTER # 2	1,500.0
WITHERINGTON SERVICES	PARKS/REC	HEAT PUMP INSTALLATION	9,469.0
BSN SPORTS	PARKS/REC	GAME CHANGER SNAPBACK	4,375.0
SIMONTON'S	PARKS/REC	LABOR / MATERIALS - REPAIRS	5,800.0
A T & T	WATER	CLAIM FOR DAMAGES	3,732.
UTILITY SERVICE CO INC	WTP	FILTER # 6	1,500.0
HUB CITY TIRE CO INC	POLICE	TIRES (4) / DISPOSAL FEE	1,167.3
TENNESSEE TRACTOR	GRND MTNCE	TRIMMERS / TRIMMER LINE (3)	1,793.9
CHRISTIAN GEARY ELECTRIC	PARKS/REC	GENERAL MAINTENANCE	1,300.0
MCKEE CONTRUCTION	PARKS/REC	REPAIRS - MATERIALS / LABOR	1,121.
BSN SPORTS	PARKS/REC	BASEBALL JERSEYS	1,930.
BSN SPORTS	PARKS/REC	BASEBALL JERSEYS	1,240.
KASEY JONES	PARKS/REC	ANNUAL GENERAL MAINTENANCE	1,000.
LRK	CODES	DESIGN GUIDELINES - 80% COMPLETE	8,712.
ALENZI SIGNS	FIRE	NEW SIGN INSTALL - EXISTING SIGN REMOVAL	1,300.
CUMMINS SALES & SERVICE	FIRE	ANNUAL MAINTENANCE / GENERATORS	1,151.
G & C SUPPLY CO INC	STREET	MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	1,648.
G & C SUPPLY CO INC	WATER	PORTABLE MESSAGE BOARD	15,650.
A T & T	POLICE	TELEPHONE SERVICE	2,472.
STEPHANIE PUGH	CIVIC CENTER	TRAVEL	508.
GROSE FIRE PROTECTION	CIVIC CENTER	ANNUAL INSPECTION	1,114.
SYMMETRY	GAS	GAS PURCHASE	87,103.
VALKER COMMERCIAL CUT & TRIM	POLICE	RAISE CANOPY ON TREES - FRAZIER PARK	12,000.
A T & T	ALL	TELEPHONE SERVICE	3,729.
A T & T	ALL	TELEPHONE SERVICE	2,401.
REGIONS BANK	GENERAL	INTEREST / PRINCIPAL	15,750.
REGIONS BANK	WATER	INTEREST / PRINCIPAL	47,365.
REGIONS BANK	SEWER	INTEREST / PRINCIPAL	243,130.
KRISTI GLASS MAXWELL	GENERAL	APRIL 2025 MIXED DRINK TAX	1,343.
SOUTHWEST TN EMC	AIRPORT	ELECTRIC UTILITIES	5,084.
PUBLIC ENTITY PARTNERS	GENERAL	POLICY DEDUCTIBLE - E & O	5,000.
BREAD OF LIFE	GENERAL	ROUND UP / JULY 2024 - FEB 2025	18,333.
XYLEM	WWTP	RENTAL	8,598.
GULF STATES ENGINEERING	SEWER	TROUBLESHOOT PHASE MONITOR ISSUE - #2	2,313.
TN DEPT ENV & CONSERVATION	WTP	SEWAGE TREATMENT FROM FLOW	6,920.
MIDSOUTH SOLUTIONS	POLICE	UNIFORMS	1,962.
COVINGTON ELECTRIC SYSTEM	POLICE	10 MONTHS SERVICE	5,719.
WOOTEN TRACTOR CO	GRND MTNCE	MOER DECK PARTS	1,016.
G & C SUPPLY CO INC	WATER/SEWER	MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	1,126.
SULLIVANS GAS SERVICES	GAS	MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	9,751.
SULLIVANS GAS SERVICES	GAS	MATERIALS & SUPPLIES	7,052.
RICHARD GRIGGS	FIRE	TRAVEL	156.
JEREMY CHANNELL	FIRE	TRAVEL	271.
NICHOLAS SHAW	WATER	TRAVEL	271.
GLOBAL INDUSTRIES		BENCHES / BALLFIELD	6,662.
HC3	PARKS/REC SW/WTR/SEWER/GAS		,
		UTILITY BILLING	3,316.
	AIRPORT	MATCHING GRANT	20,000.
CODY BUMPUS BRITANY MCGARITY	HR HR	TRAVEL TRAVEL	65.
			363.

WOOTEN OIL CO	ST/SAN/SWR	FUEL	1,140.71
SERVLINE	WATER	PROTECTION PLAN PREMIUM	13,046.65

The General Welfare – Public Safety Committee met at City of Covington on April 22, 2025, at 4:00 p.m. with the following members present: Mayor Jan Hensley, Alderman Jeff Morris, Alderman John Edwards, and Alderman C H Sullivan, Alderwoman Margaret Fleming, Alderman Danny Wallace and Alderwoman Jean Johnson. Also, present were Police Chief Donna Turner, Fire Lieutenant Tindall, Assistant to Mayor Jason Fleming, and Recorder-Treasurer Lisa Elam.

Meeting was called to order by Chairman Alderman Jeff Morris.

Fire Lieutenant Tindell reported the fire department had 0 Volunteer hours for the month of March. Lieutenant Tindall reported that the County Coverage area collections for 2025 are \$74,250.00. Lieutenant Tindall also attached current budget expenditures to date. Lieutenant Tindall reported on the Fire Station roof leak stating that it was addressed and repaired. Chief Griggs is obtaining bids for concrete repairs. Lieutenant Tindall also attached the Fire Inspection Report and OSHA Compliance Report. Lieutenant Tindell announced that the Fire Department has received letters of appreciation from Mayor Eugene Pugh and TCCA. Lieutenant Tindall also reported that the Incident Safety Officer was conducted at the Munford Fire Department: The Covington Fire Department attendees were Captain Moss, Lieutenant Burrow, Engineer Massey, Lieutenant Tindall, Lieutenant Dunavant and Inspector Thigpen.

Motion was made by Alderman Edwards and seconded by Alderman Morris to approve the Fire Report from Lieutenant Tindall.

Motion passed.

Police Chief Turner reported a new officer, Beverly Bearden for the Tipton Christian Academy SRO. Chief Turner reported three officers resigned and one new hire. Chief Turner also reported Officer Preyer is out with knee surgery. Chief Turner announced Officers Magee and Templeton attended the TIES conference in Gatlinburg, TN where they received mandatory training and updates to security requirements. Detective Norwood attended a 40-hour Basic Fire Investigation Class at the Tennessee Bureau of Investigation Regional Headquarters in Jackson, TN where he received hands-on training in investigating fire deaths, fire scene safety, and scene processing. Lt Dillingham and K-9 Officer VanVleet attended Instructor Development classes designed to equip Law Enforcement Professionals with the essential skills and strategies needed to effectively teach adult learners, present themselves professionally, and engage students in a meaningful and impactful way. Chief Turner announced starting July 1st an update on Vape Law will only allow sales at liquor stores. Chief Turner announced the thirty-day notice for the Gun sales starts today. Chief Turner reported damage estimates to the Dodge Charger, due to flooding, resulted in an Insurance Reimbursement of \$56,065.70.

Motion was made by Alderman Sullivan and seconded by Mayor Hensley to approve Chief Turners report.

Motion passed.

Meeting adjourned at 4:36 p.m..

ORDINANCE 1788

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE COVINGTON MUNICIPAL ZONING MAP TO REZONE PROPERTY AT MUELLER BRASS ROAD AND MT CARMEL ROAD FROM R-2 (CITY/MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL) DISTRICT TO B-2 (CITY/HIGHWAY ORIENTED BUSINESS) DISTRICT

- WHEREAS, pursuant to <u>Tennessee Code Annotated</u> Sections 13-7-201 and 13-7-202 a zoning ordinance and map have been adopted for the City of Covington; and,
- WHEREAS, the Covington Municipal-Regional Planning Commission has recommended that the following property be reclassified from its current zoning designation to the proposed zoning designation and,
- WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before Covington Board of Mayor and Aldermen pursuant to section 13-7-203, <u>Tennessee Code</u> <u>Annotated</u>, the time and place of which was published with fifteen days advance notice; and,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON:

SECTION 1. That the following described property be rezoned from R-2 (City/Medium Density Residential) District to B-2 (City/Highway Business) District:

Parcel 037.03 on Tipton County Tax Map 050,

DESCRIPTION:

Description of part of the APC, L.L.C. property recorded in Book 759, Page 548, Parcel #7 and part of the APC, LLC property recorded in Book 787, Page 794 in Covington, Tipton County, Tennessee:

Beginning at a set pk nail at the intersection of the south line of Mueller Brass Road (80"R.O.W) and the west line of Mt. Carmel Road (60°R.O.W.) (25°from the centerline of existing pavement); thence southwardly with the west line of said Mt. Carmel Road the following calls: south 09 degrees 05 minutes 00 seconds west, 32.03 feet; to a point of curvature; along a curve o the right having a radius of 975.00 feet, a delta angle of 05 degrees 21 minutes 53 seconds, a chord bearing of south 11 degrees 45 minutes 56 seconds west, a chord distance of 91.26 feet and an arc distance of 91.29 feet to a point of tangency; south 14 degrees 26 minutes 53 seconds west, 88.45 feet to a set 1/2" rebar with plastic cap in the north line of Mallard Cove Condominiums recorded in Book 1336, Page 1; thence westwordly with the north line of said property recorded in Book 1336, Page 1 the following calls: north 64 degrees 25 minutes 23 seconds west, 100.01 feet to a set 1/2" rebar with plastic cap and on for a total distance of 120.01 feet to a point in an existing ditch; south 84 degrees 48 minutes 35 seconds west, 423.18 feet to a set 1/2" rebar with plastic cap in the east line of the APC Rentals property recorded in Book 1662, Page 1114, Parcel III: C, Tract #1; thence northwardly with the east line of said property recorded in Book 1662, Page 1114, Parcel III: C, Tract #1 the following calls: north 17 degrees 51 minutes 05 seconds east, 48.93 feet to a set 1/2" rebar with plastic cap; north O2 degrees 43 minutes 44 seconds west, 116.93 feet to set 1/2" rebar with plastic cap in the south line of said Mueller Brass Road; thence north 87 degrees 11 minutes 12 seconds east, with the south line of said Mueller Brass Road. 566.18 feet to the point of beginning and containing 1.998 acres of land more or less,

SECTION 2. BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that this Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its passage after third and final reading, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.

Passed First Reading

Mayor

Passed Second Reading

City Recorder-Treasurer

Public Hearing

Passed Third Reading

ORDINANCE 1789

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE MUNICIPAL ZONING ORDINANCE OF COVINGTON, TENNESSEE: AMENDING TEXT OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY ESTABLISHING STANDARDS FOR A PD (PLANNED DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT) DISTRICT

- WHEREAS, pursuant to *Tennessee Code Annotated* Sections 13-7-201 through 13-7-211, a municipal zoning ordinance has been adopted for City of Covington, Tennessee; and,
- WHEREAS, the Covington Municipal-Regional Planning Commission has recommended the following amendment to the text of the municipal zoning ordinance, by adding planned development regulations; and,
- WHEREAS, pursuant to *Tennessee Code Annotated* Section 13-7-203, a public hearing was held before this body, the time and place of which was published with fifteen days advance notice; and,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, TENNESSEE:

Section 1. That the following text shall be added to the Covington Municipal Zoning Ordinance as Section 11-505:

11-505. <u>Planned Development District (PD)</u>

This section is intended to provide the means and guidelines through which tracts of land may be developed through an overall unified approach rather than the traditional lot-bylot treatment afforded by other districts in this Ordinance. It is intended to provide a maximum of design freedom in order to create a better living environment, by making the best use of topography and land features and by permitting the developer an opportunity to more fully utilize the physical characteristics of the site through the reduction of lot sizes, the absence of yard and bulk restrictions and the planned mixing of uses. Through the requirement of a development plan, it is the intent that property under this section will be developed through a unified design providing continuity between the various elements and ultimately leading to a better environment. Increased densities may be permitted under this Section if such an increase can be substantiated on the basis that the superior design makes greater densities possible with no reduction of amenities. This section is not intended as a panacea and should not be utilized as a device for making increased densities more acceptable or as a means of circumventing the City's development regulations.

<u>Planned Development (PD)</u>: A development guided by a total design plan in which one or more of the zoning or subdivision regulations, other than use regulations, shall be permitted to be waived or varied to allow flexibility and creativity in site and building design and location, in accordance with general guidelines.

Section A. Objectives

1. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may, upon proper application, rezone a site of at least twenty-five (25) acres to facilitate the use of flexible techniques of land development and site design by providing relief from zone requirements designed for conventional developments. In addition, the Board may establish standards and procedures, including restricting land uses to only those compatible with surrounding development prior to a rezoning in order to obtain one or more of the following objectives:

A. Promote the efficient use of land to facilitate a more economic

arrangement of buildings, circulation systems, land use and utilities.

B. Preserve to the greatest extent possible the existing landscape features and amenities and utilize such features in a harmonious fashion.

C. Provide more usable and suitably located recreation facilities and other public and common facilities than would otherwise be provided under conventional land development procedures.

D. Combine and coordinate architectural styles, building forms and building relationships within the planned developments.

E. Ensure a quality of construction commensurate with other developments within the City.

F. Create a safe and desirable environment for areas characterized by a unified building and site development program.

G. Implement rational and economic development in relation to public services.

H. Demonstrate efficient and effective traffic circulation, both within and adjacent to the development site.

I. Create of a variety of housing compatible with surrounding neighborhoods to provide a greater choice of types of environments and living units.

J. Provide attractive and appropriate locations for business uses in well-designed buildings and provisions of opportunities for employment closer to residence with a reduction in travel from home to work.

Section B. <u>Relation Between Planned Developments and Zoning Districts</u>

1. Planned Developments under this section, planned developments (PD) shall be permitted, subject to the stated requirements. PDs are established by overlaying a Preliminary Development Plan over the existing district. The overlays are as follows: PD (Planned Development) over R-1, R-2 or R-3 districts. A zoning amendment is required following the procedures outlined in this section and in accordance with Chapter 13 of this Zoning Ordinance.

Section C. Modification of District Regulations

1. Planned Developments may be constructed in the above zoning districts subject to the standards and procedures set forth below:

A. Except as modified by and approved in the Ordinance approving a preliminary development plan, Planned Developments shall be governed by the regulations of the district or districts in which the said Planned Development is located.

- B. The Ordinance approving the preliminary development plan for the Planned Development may provide for such exceptions from the zoning district regulations governing use, area, setback, signage, loading, width and other bulk regulations, parking, and such subdivision regulations as may be necessary or desirable to achieve the objectives of the proposed Planned Development, provided such exceptions are consistent with the standards and criteria contained in this section and have been specifically requested in the application for a Planned Development and further provided that no modification of the district requirements or subdivision regulations may be allowed when such proposed modification would result in:
 - i. Inadequate or unsafe access to The Planned Development.
 - ii. Traffic volume exceeded the anticipated capacity of the major street network in the vicinity.
 - iii. An undue burden on public parks, recreation areas, schools, fire and police protection and other public facilities which serve or are proposed to serve the Planned Development.
 - iv. The construction of utilities or facilities is not representative of accepted engineering practices or standards adopted by the City of Covington.
 - v. A development which will be incompatible with the purposes of this Ordinance.
- C. Such exceptions shall supersede the regulations of the zoning district in which the Planned Development is located. Provided, however, in no case shall the uses or densities be varied, except as herein provided, and setbacks along the boundary of the Planned Development shall not be less than those allowed in the underlying zoning.
- D. The Development Agreement, which is executable prior to Planned Development Zoning, is a general agreement and is subject to subsequent supplemental agreements to address more specific concerns required as the level of detail increases in the review process.

Section D. Coordination with Subdivision Regulations

- 1. The uniqueness of each proposal for a Planned Development may require that specifications for which the width and surfacing of streets, public ways, public utility rights-of-way, curbs and other standards may be subject to modification from the specifications established in the Subdivision Regulations adopted by the Planning Commission.
- 2. Modifications may be incorporated only with the review of the Planning Commission and approval of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen as part of its review of the Final Development Plan for a PD and granted as a variance in the preliminary approval of the subdivision which must be concurrent with the final approval by the Planning Commission of the plan.
- 3. It is the intent of this Ordinance that subdivision review under the Subdivision Regulations be carried out simultaneously with the review of Planned Development under this section of the Zoning Ordinance.
- 4. The development plans submitted under section #8 of this section must be submitted in a form that will satisfy the requirements of the Subdivision

Regulations for preliminary and final plats.

5. The requirements for both this section of the Zoning Ordinance and those of the Subdivision Regulations shall apply to all PD's and all actions of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen pertaining to PD's shall be based upon a recommendation by the Planning Commission.

Section E. General Standards and Criteria

1. The Board of Mayor and Alderman may grant a permit which modifies the applicable district zoning regulations and subdivision regulations upon recommendation by the Planning Commission which shall be forwarded pursuant to the provisions contained in this section.

2. The proposed development will not represent a conflict in use with surrounding property nor will they unduly hinder or prevent the development of surrounding property in accordance with the current development policies and existing plans for the City of Covington.

3. An approved water supply, community wastewater treatment and disposal and storm water drainage facilities that are adequate to serve the proposed development have been or shall be provided.

4. The location and arrangement of the structures, parking areas, walks, lighting and other service facilities shall be compatible with the surrounding land uses and any part of the proposed development not used for structures, parking and loading areas or access ways shall be landscaped or otherwise improved except where natural features are such as justify preservation.

5. Any modification of the zoning or other regulations that would otherwise be applicable to the site are warranted by the design of the preliminary development plan and the amenities incorporated therein and are not inconsistent with the public interest.

6. Provisions shall be made for a homeowner's association or other responsible party to maintain any and all common and open space and/or common elements, unless conveyed to and accepted by the City of Covington or other public body approved by the City of Covington.

Section F. General Provisions

The following general provisions shall apply to any Planned Development Districts created by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

- 1. <u>Application for Planned Development Permit Required</u> Each application for a Planned Development shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of these regulations and the requirements set forth in the Subdivision Regulations. Variances to the requirements of both regulations may be granted upon review of the Planning Commission.
- 2. <u>Waiver of Board of Zoning appeals Action</u> No action of the Board of Zoning Appeals shall be required in the approval of a Planned Development District.
- 3. <u>Ownership and Division of Land</u> No tract of land may be considered for or approved as a PD unless such a tract is under the single ownership of a landowner. For the purpose of this Ordinance, a

landowner may be a person, partnership, corporation, association or any other legal entity entitled to own property. The holder of a written option to purchase, a party purchaser to a contract for the sale of real property contingent upon the success of a PD application for the property, or any governmental agency shall be considered landowners for the purpose of this Section. Unless otherwise provided as a condition of approval of PD, the landowner of an adopted PD may divide and transfer parts of such development. The transferee shall complete each section and use and maintain it in strict conformance with the Final Development Plan.

4. <u>Professional Design</u>

The Covington Municipal-Regional Planning Commission shall not consider any development plan for any proposed Planned Development, either on a preliminary or final basis, nor shall the City of Covington Board of Mayor and Aldermen concur with any preliminary development plan for a proposed Planned Development unless such proposed plan includes a certification that the services of a licensed civil engineer or one or more design professionals was utilized in the preparation of the master plan.

A. Architecture -

i. A pattern book (building guide that regulates the architectural massing, building types, heights, facades, styles, materials, and details and establishes the basic design guidelines that will ensure that the architecture of the individual buildings within the development will be in keeping with the overall vision) shall be included in the proposed planned development submitted to the Planning Commission and the Board of Mayor and Alderman. The pattern shall illustrate key components of building design such as the shape of windows and doors, roof pitches, eave details, column details, dormer details, and types of porches that are appropriate for that style.

5. Development Period; Staging

The expeditious construction of any Planned Development authorized under these provisions shall be undertaken to assist in the assurance of the full completion of the development in accordance with the adopted final development plan.

A. Start of Development -

i. Within five (5) years from the date of preliminary plan approval of a PD, actual construction shall have commenced in such development. Actual construction is defined to include the placing of construction materials in a permanent position and fastened permanently or extensive grading including demolition or removal of existing structures necessary for the development.

B. Completion Period -

i. If no actual construction, as determined by the Building Inspector, has begun within the time stated in the final development and construction schedule, the final development plan shall lapse upon written notice to the applicant from the Planning Commission and shall be of no further effect. ii. At its discretion and for good cause, the Planning Commission may extend, for a reasonable time, the period for the beginning of construction. iii.If a development plan is terminated under the provisions of this section, the planned development designation shall be removed from the Official Zoning Map. The zoning regulations applicable before the development was approved shall then be in effect.

C. Staging of Development -

The Planning Commission may elect to permit the staging of development, in which case, the following provision shall be complied with:

i. Each stage shall be so planned and so related to existing surroundings and available facilities and services that failure to proceed to the subsequent stages will not have an adverse impact on the development or its surroundings at any stage of development. The development staff shall review any proposed phasing plan and recommend to the Planning Commission a plan for the phasing and recommended construction improvements including site improvements, streets, surface and subsurface drainage, water lines, sewer lines, parking areas, landscaping, planting and screening. The Developer shall also prepare a cost estimate of the recommended improvements to be approved by the City Engineer for bonding purposes.

6. <u>Common Open Space and Public Facilities</u>

The requirements of common open space and public facilities shall be in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

- A. Common open space must be usable for recreational purposes or must provide visual, aesthetic environmental amenities. The uses authorized for the common open space must be appropriate to the scale and character of the Planned Development considering its size, density, expected population, topography and the number and type of structures to be provided.
- B. Common open space must be suitably improved for its intended use, but open space containing natural features worthy of preservation may be left unimproved. Any buildings, structures and improvements to be located in the common open space must be appropriate to the uses which are authorized therefore and must conserve and enhance the amenities of the common open space having regard to its topography and the intended function of the common open space.
- C. The development phasing sequence which is part of the preliminary development plan must coordinate the improvement of the common open space, the construction of the buildings, structures and improvements in the common open space, the construction of public improvements and the construction of buildings in a Planned Development, but in no event shall occupancy permits for any phase of the final development plan be issued unless and until the open space which is part of that phase has been dedicated or conveyed and improved.
- D. No common open space of a Planned Development shall be conveyed or dedicated by the developer or any other person to any public body, homeowner's association or other responsible party unless the City of Covington Planning Commission has determined that the character and quality of the tract to be conveyed make it suitable for the purpose for which it was intended. The Planning Commission may consider the size and character of the buildings to be constructed within the Planned Development, the topography and existing trees, the ground cover and other natural features, the manner in which the open space is to be improved and maintained for

recreational or amenity purposes, and the existence of public parks or other public recreational facilities in the vicinity.

- E. All land shown on the final development plan as common open space may be either:
 - i. Conveyed to a public body, if said public body agrees to accept conveyance and to maintain the common open space and any buildings, structures, or improvements which have been placed on it; or
 - ii. Conveyed to an organization for ownership and maintenance subject to the following:
 - a. In the event that the organization established to own and maintain common open space, or any successor organization, shall at any time after the establishment of the Planned Development fail to maintain the common open space in reasonable order and condition in accordance with the adopted final development plan, the Building Official may serve written notice upon such organization and/or the owners or residents of the Planned Development and hold a public hearing. After thirty (30) days when the deficiencies of maintenance are not corrected, the Building Official shall call upon any public or private agency to maintain the common open space.
 - b. The cost of such maintenance by such an agency shall be assessed proportionally against the properties within the Planned Development that have a right of enjoyment of the common open space and shall become a lien on said properties.
 - c. If the common open space is deeded to a Homeowners' and/or Property Owners Association, the developer shall file a declaration of covenants and restrictions that will govern the association, to be submitted with the application for preliminary approval. The provisions shall include but not be limited to the following:
 - i. The Association must be set up before homes are sold.
 - ii. Membership must be mandatory for each home buyer and any successive buyer.
 - iii. The open space restrictions must be permanent, not just for a period of time.
 - iv. The Association must be responsible for liability insurance, local taxes and the maintenance of recreational and other facilities.
 - v. Homeowners/Property owners must pay their pro rata share of the cost of the assessment levied by the association to meet changed needs.
- F. Dedication of Public Facilities

The Covington Planning Commission, as a condition of approval and adoption and in accordance with the final development plan, require that suitable areas for streets, public rights-of-way, schools, parks and other public areas be set aside, improved and/or dedicated for public use.

G. Bond Requirement for Improvements

The Planning Commission shall require that a performance bond, letter of credit, other surety agreement, be furnished and filed with the City of Covington for required public improvements. An escrow agreement and account approved by the City Attorney as to form and content and by the

Planning Commission, shall be required in the amount of one hundred (100) percent of the estimated construction and engineering cost. Said escrow shall accompany the request for final plan approval to ensure completion of all improvements including, but not limited to public site improvements, streets, surface and subsurface drainage, water lines, sewer lines, parking areas, landscaping, planting and screening.

Additionally, the Planning Commission may recommend and the Board of Mayor and Alderman may require an escrow account to be established by the developer, for a period not to exceed two (2) years following the completion of any or all common open space and /or public facilities included in the Planned Development, to ensure the maintenance of such open spaces or public facilities by the Homeowners' Association or other responsible party, upon a determination that the character or nature of such open space or public facility would be hazardous to the public, if not properly maintained. The funds required may be an amount up to one hundred (100) percent of the estimated cost of proper maintenance for the open areas or facilities for the time period designed.

H. Development Contract

Before a final development plan is approved by the City, the developer and owner must enter into a development contract with and satisfactory to the Board of Mayor and Alderman relative to all required improvements.

I. <u>Relation to Utilities</u>, <u>Public Facilities</u>

PD districts shall be so located in relation to sanitary sewers, water lines, surface and subsurface drainage systems and other utilities systems and installations that neither extension nor enlargement of such systems will be required in manner, form, character, location, degree, scale, or timing resulting in higher net public cost or earlier incursion of public cost than would development in a form generally permitted in the area. Such districts shall be located with respect to schools, parks, playgrounds and other public facilities required to have access to the same degree as would develop in a form generally permitted in the area.

J. Relation to Major Transportation Facilities

PD district shall be located with respect to major streets and highways or other transportation facilities so as to provide direct access to such districts without creating traffic along minor streets in residential neighborhoods outside such districts.

K. Vehicular Movement and Standards

The street design of any PD should include a clearly defined hierarchical street system. Streets, drives, parking and service areas must provide safe and convenient access to dwelling units, project facilities and for service and emergency vehicles. Streets will not be laid out to encourage outside traffic to traverse the development on minor streets or occupy more land than is required to provide access as needed or create unnecessary fragmentation of the development into small tracts. In general, tract size shall be the maximum consistent with use, shape of the site and for the convenience and safety of the occupants.

i. Vehicular access to other streets from off-street parking and service areas shall be combined, limited, located, designed and controlled as to channel

traffic to an d from such areas conveniently, safely and in a manner which minimizes marginal traffic friction and promotes free traffic flow on streets without excessive interruptions.

- ii. Principal vehicular access points shall be designed to permit smooth traffic flow with controlled turning movements and minimum hazards to vehicular or pedestrian traffic. Minor streets without PD's shall not be connected to streets outside the development in such a way as to encourage their use by through traffic.
- iii. All streets in PDs shall be publicly dedicated streets. Private streets shall not be allowed.
- L. Pedestrian Movement

i. Access for pedestrians and cyclists shall be arranged to provide safe, convenient routes and need not be limited to vehicular access points. When pedestrian access points do not occur at street intersections, they shall be marked and controlled and when such ways are exposed to substantial vehicular traffic at the edges of a district, fences or other barriers shall be erected and maintained to prevent crossings, except at designated points. Bicycle, and/or bridle paths, if provided, shall be in relation to the pedestrian way system so that street crossings are combined.

ii. Walkways shall form a logical, safe and convenient system for pedestrian access to all project facilities and off-site destinations likely to attract substantial pedestrian traffic. Walkways to be used by substantial numbers of children as play areas or routes to school or other principal destinations, shall be so located and safeguarded as to minimize contact with normal automobile traffic. Street crossings shall be held to a minimum on such walkways, located and designed to promote safety, appropriately marked and otherwise safeguarded. If substantial bicycle traffic is anticipated, bicycle paths shall be appropriately located, designed and constructed, may be combined with other easements and used by emergency or other service vehicles, but shall not be used by other automobile traffic.

- M. Planning Relationships with Adjoining Development
 - i. The design of any Planned Development should reflect an effort by the developer to plan land uses within the Planned Development so as to blend harmoniously with adjacent land uses.
 - ii. Fences, walls or vegetative screening shall be provided along the edges of Planned Developments where needed to protect residents from undesirable views, lighting, noise, or other off-site influences or to protect occupants of adjoining residential districts from similar adverse influences within the Planned Development. In both cases, screening shall be designed to control the existing or potential adverse views from existing or potential first floor residential windows in the Planned Development or other residential districts. Screening requirements may be waived where terrain makes protection against overview impracticable.
- N. Site Planning

Site planning within any PD shall provide for the protection of the development from potentially adverse surrounding influences and shall also provide for the protection of surrounding areas from potentially adverse influences within the development, including, but not limited to, area storm water management plans, hydrological studies, water and wastewater facilities, streets, noise and other environmental considerations. All reports and plans shall be submitted to the planning staff for review and approval and shall be made a part of the final development plan. Site plan shall be required for all uses except single family detached dwellings.

O. Signs

In the PD signs shall be as permitted by the underlying District and regulated by the City of Covington Sign Ordinance.

P. Accessory Off-Street Parking and Loading

Accessory off-street parking and loading in the PD shall be regulated by Section 11-314 of this Zoning Ordinance.

Section G. Specific Standards and Criteria for Planned Developments

In addition to the general standards and general provisions set forth above, Planned Developments shall comply with the requirements and standards that follow.

1. <u>Permitted Uses</u>

It is the intent of this Ordinance that any site or parcel of land to be developed as a PD shall not be less than twenty-five (25) acres and shall be under single ownership. Within the PD District, the following uses are permitted subject to review by the Planning Commission and approval of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

Any permitted use, accessory use, or conditional use allowed in the underlying residential district or; commercial uses listed below and shown in designated commercial areas illustrated on an approved final plat.

A. Limited Retail:

Gift Shops, Flower Shops, Clothing Stores, Delicatessens, Book / Stationary Stores, Grocery Stores not to exceed 10,000 sq ft of building area, Fruit and Vegetable Markets, Candy, Nuts and Confectionary Stores, Dairy Product Stores, Specialty Markets, Shoe Stores, Cafes and Tea Rooms, Drug Stores, Antique Stores, Sporting Goods and Bicycle Shops,

Hobby, Toy and Game shops, Tobacco Stores and Stands

B. Personal Services:

Dry-Cleaning (clothing), Barber Shops, Beauty Shops, Shoeshine Shops, Shoe Repair, Photographic Studios

C. Professional Services Limited to:

Real Estate Offices, Insurance Offices, Accounting Offices, Attorney Offices, Computer Repair Services, Offices and Clinics of Medical Professionals

D. Depository Institutions:

Banks, Automatic Teller Machine Stations

E. Public Recreation:

Assembly Hall, Banquet Hall, Community Center, Clubs / Lodges, Parks, Playgrounds, Fitness Centers, Dance Studios

F. Places of Worship

G. Child Day Care Centers, Adult Day Care Centers

H. Public Administration Services:

Fire Stations, Police Stations

- I. Education Services
- J. Commercial uses shall be clustered and concentrated within areas suitable for such within the Planned Development district and be separated from residential uses by buffering. Commercial uses must also be located on collector status streets which serve the PD.
- K. No outside storage shall be permitted, and trash disposal facilities shall be completely enclosed by walls or materials that complement all other buildings.
- L. Off-street parking areas shall be paved and landscaped. A permanently landscaped front yard shall be maintained with a minimum of fifteen (15) feet wide which shall not be used for parking and with only driveways crossing said yard. Permanently landscaped side and rear yards of appropriate width shall also be maintained.
- M. Any loading service area shall be at the rear of the building. The Planning Commission may attach other landscaping or design requirements as needed in order to protect any adjoining or neighboring uses.

2. Densities

In Planned Developments there are no minimum lot sizes or yard requirements. However, lot dimensions and lot sizes must be shown on the Preliminary Development Plan which must be reviewed by the Planning Commission and approved by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen. Within any PD classification, the Board of Mayor and Aldermen may authorize an increase in overall residential density within the project area.

A. The base densities are as follows:

Zone	Density
R-1	3.48 units per acre
R-2	5.40 units per acre
R-3	5.80 units per acre

B. An increase in density not to exceed sixteen percent (16%) may be granted for the dedication of six percent (6%) of the total PD to the City of Covington. The site must be of such nature that excessive cut or fill is not required. The site must also be landscaped to the specifications of a landscape plan that must be submitted by the developer and approved by the Planning Commission. The City reserves the right to accept or decline any proposed land dedication.

C. An increase in density not to exceed ten percent (10%) may be granted for incorporating the following provisions into the development:

- i. Providing additional recreational uses and social gathering areas, or imagination in recreation design such as providing clubhouses, swimming pools, tennis courts, and other major facilities.
- ii. Developing a system of pedestrian walkways for safe circulation to schools, churches, shopping and other traffic generators.
- iii. Providing additional landscaping, applicable on public land with a minimum of six (6) shade trees per acre with a height of between eight (8) to ten (10) feet.
- D. An increase in density, not to exceed ten percent (10%) may be granted for providing superior aesthetics within a development by:

i. Combining distinctiveness and excellence in architectural settings and design.

ii. Exceptional design of the automobile circulation system to include a minimum of paved surfaces.

- iii. Providing enclosed or sub-surface parking.
 - where applicable.

Iv .Providing a comprehensive fencing or screening system that offers the greatest possible degree of privacy.

E. All provisions for increases in density granted under this section must be proportionately accomplished with the phasing plan.

F. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may prohibit or limit an increase in density to avoid the following conditions:

- i. Inconvenient or unsafe access to Planned Development.
- ii. Traffic congestion in the streets within or adjoining the Planned Development.

iii. An excessive burden on parks, recreation areas, schools, police and fire protection, and other public facilities which serve or are proposed to serve the Planned Development.

iv. Any condition which might pose a threat to the health, safety, or welfare of the residents of the Planned Development or the general public or frustrate the orderly development of the surrounding area.

G. The developer shall submit documentation, plans and drawings as necessary to justify density increases. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen may decrease or eliminate allowed density increases if it is determined that the developer is not performing to standards as agreed upon.

3. Accessibility of Site

All proposed streets and driveways shall be adequate to serve the residents, occupants, visitors or other anticipated traffic of the Planned Development, but may be designed so as to discourage outside through traffic from traversing the development. The location of the entrance points of the streets and driveways upon existing public roadways shall be subject to the approval of the Planning Commission.

4. Off-Street Parking

Off-street parking shall be conveniently accessible to all dwelling units and other uses. Where appropriate, common driveways, parking areas, walks and steps may be provided, maintained and lit for night use. Screening of parking and service areas shall be required through the use of trees, shrubs, hedges, and/or berms and screening walls.

5. Pedestrian Circulation

The pedestrian circulation system and its related walkways shall be separated, whenever feasible, from the vehicular street system to provide an appropriate degree of separation of pedestrian and vehicular movement.

6. Privacy

The Planned Development shall provide reasonable visual and acoustical privacy for dwelling units within and adjacent to the Planned Development. Protection and enhancement of property and the privacy of its occupants may be provided by the screening of objectionable views or uses and reduction of noise through the use of fences, insulation, natural foliage, berms and landscaped barriers.

Section H. Procedures for Planned Development Approval

The provisions of this Section govern the procedure for approval of all Planned Developments provided herein.

1. Pre-Application Procedure

At least one (1) month prior to filing any application for Planned Development, the prospective applicant shall request a pre-application conference with the Planning Staff.

To obtain information, each applicant shall confer with the planning staff in connection with the preparation of the Planned Development application. The general outline of the proposal, evidenced schematically by sketch plans, is to be considered before submission of the Planned Development application. Thereafter, the Planning Staff shall furnish the applicant with comments regarding such a conference, including appropriate recommendations to inform and assist the applicant prior to his preparing the components of the Planned Development application.

2. Preliminary Development Plan

A preliminary development plan shall be submitted to the Planning Commission with the application for the Planned Development within six (6) months of the preapplication conference. A final development plan, including all the requirements of a preliminary development plan, may be submitted as a single application.

- 3. Written Documents
 - A. A legal description of the total site proposed for development, including a statement of present and proposed ownership and present and proposed zoning.
 - B. A statement of planning objectives to be achieved by the PD through the particular approach proposed by the applicant. This statement should include a description of the character of the proposed development and the rationale behind the assumptions and choices made by the applicant.
 - C. A development schedule indicating the approximate date when construction of the PD or stages of the PD can be expected to begin and be completed.
 - D. If the Planned Development is proposed to be constructed in stages or units during a period extending beyond a single construction season, a development schedule indicating:
 - i. the approximate date when construction of the project can be expected to begin;
 - ii. the order in which the phases of the project will be built; and
 - iii. the minimum area and the approximate location of common open space and public improvements that will be required at each stage.
 - E. A statement of the applicant's intentions with regard to the future selling or leasing of all or portions of the PD, such as land areas, dwelling units, etc.
 - F. Quantitative data for the following: total number and type of dwelling units; parcel size; proposed lot coverage of buildings and structures; approximate gross and net residential densities; total amount of open space

(including a separate figure for usable open space), total amount of residential construction (including a separate figure for commercial construction), appropriate studies used in the development of the General Development Plan and other studies as may be required by the Planning Commission.

- G. A statement setting forth in detail either, (1) the exceptions which are required from the zoning and subdivision regulations otherwise applicable to the property to permit the development of the proposed Planned Development, or (2) the bulk regulations under which the Planned Development is proposed.
- H. A tabulation setting forth:
 - a. Maximum total square feet of building floor area proposed for commercial uses, by general type use;
 - b. Maximum total land area, expressed in acres and as a percentage of the total development area, proposed to be devoted to commercial, public and private open space, streets; and off-street parking and loading areas.
- 4. Site Plan and Supporting Maps

A site plan and any maps necessary to show the major details of the proposed PD must contain the following minimum information:

- A. The existing site conditions should include contours at two-foot (2') intervals, water courses, flood plains, unique natural features and forest cover.
- B. Proposed lot lines and plot designs.
- C. The location and floor area size of all existing and proposed buildings, structures and other improvements including maximum heights, types of dwelling units, and density per type and nonresidential structures, including commercial to include preliminary elevations and/or architectural renderings of typical structures and improvements. Such drawings should be sufficient to relay the basic architectural intent of the proposed improvements but should not be encumbered with final detail at this stage.
- D. The location and size in acres or square feet of all areas to be conveyed, dedicated or reserved as common open spaces, public parks, recreational areas, school sites and similar public and semi-public uses.
- E. The existing and proposed circulation system of arterial, collector and local streets including off-street parking areas, service areas, loading areas and major points of access to public rights-of-way (including major points of ingress and egress to the development). Notations of proposed ownership, public or private, should be included where appropriate.
- F. The existing and proposed pedestrian circulation system, including its interrelationships with the vehicular circulation system, indicating proposed treatments of points of conflict.
- G. The existing and proposed utility systems include sanitary sewers, storm sewers, water lines, and drainage. (Detailed drainage plan and calculations shall be handled at the final development plan stage.)
- H. A general landscape plan indicating the treatment of materials used for private and common open spaces.

- I. Enough information on land areas adjacent to the proposed PD to indicate relationships between the proposed development and existing and proposed adjacent areas, including land uses, zoning classifications, densities, circulation systems, public facilities and unique natural features of the landscape.
- J. The proposed treatment of the perimeter of the PD includes materials and techniques used such as screens, fences and walls.
- K. Any additional information as required by the Planning Commission as necessary to evaluate the character and impact of the proposed PD.

The City may, in its discretion, modify or waive any of the informational requirements contained in this subsection, items A through K, in order to reasonably adopt these requirements to a particular Planned Development to facilitate an orderly application process. If any informational requirement is waived, however, provisions shall be made to supply such information in a form satisfactory to the City prior to final development plan approval.

Section I. Preliminary Development Plan Approval Process and Effect of Approval

- 1. At least forty-five (45) days prior to the Planning Commission meeting at which it is to be considered, the owner of the property or his agent shall submit to the Planning Commission the Preliminary Development Plan, a completed application form, and all other information required under this Section. The Planning Commission shall review the application and shall recommend to the Board of Mayor and Aldermen to approve; disapprove; or approve the Planned Development subject to conditions. The Planning Commission may also defer a decision or take the matter under advisement until the next regular meeting.
- 2. Any owner or his agent may appeal to the Board of Mayor and Alderman any recommendation or condition the Planning Commission imposes in the recommendations by filing written, notice of appeal at least seven (7) days prior to review by the Board of Mayor and Alderman. However, the applicant shall submit a preliminary development plan incorporating any and all conditions not appealed within ninety (90) days after the Planning Commission's decision on the requested Planned Development or the application shall be deemed withdrawn.
- 3. The recommendation of the Planning Commission and any notices of appeal shall be forwarded to the Board of Mayor and Alderman within ten (10) days of the Planning Commission meeting or within ten (10) days of the date the applicant submitted a preliminary development plan incorporating the required conditions, whichever date occurs later.
- 4. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall hold a public hearing on the application for the Planned Development and the preliminary plan after receipt of recommendations from the Planning Commission and any notice of appeal. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall establish a date for a public hearing and shall provide written notice and publication in accordance with Section 11-1304 of this Ordinance. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen shall render a decision on any appeal and shall: approve; disapprove; or approve the

proposed Planned Development and preliminary development plan subject to conditions, and if approved, shall set forth the conditions imposed.

- 5. The approved preliminary development plan shall bind the applicant, owner, and mortgagee, if any, and the City of Covington with respect to the contents of such plan.
- 6. The preliminary development plan shall be used in lieu of a Master Subdivision Plan to comply with the provisions of the Subdivision Regulations pertaining to Master Plans.
- 7. The Covington Planning Commission may amend or waive a development schedule upon submission of written justification by the applicant.

Section J. Final Development Plan Approval Process

1.An application for approval of a final development plan of the entire Planned Development, if it is to be completed in one phase, or a portion of the Planned Development, if it consists of more than one phase, shall be submitted by the applicant at least forty-five (45) days prior to the Planning Commission meeting. The application for final development plan approval shall be filed with the Planning Commission and shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- A. A plan/plat suitable for recording with the Tipton County Register's Office.
- B. Proof referred to on the plan and satisfactory to the City Attorney as to the provision and maintenance of common open space.
- C. All certificates, seals and signatures are required for the dedication of land and recordation of documents.
- D. Tabulations of each separate use area, including land area, bulk regulations and number of dwelling units per gross acre and the gross floor area for commercial uses.
- E. Location and type of landscaping.
- F. Location and dimensions of utility and drainage facilities.
- G. All other requirements of a Final Plan under the City of Covington Municipal Subdivision Regulations.

2. The Planning Commission shall review the plan and determine whether the final plan substantially conforms or substantially deviates from an approved Preliminary Development Plan in accordance with the following:

- A. It provided for less density than the approved outline plan; or it provides greater open space by the elimination of a reduction in the size of residential or commercial buildings.
- B. A decision shall be rendered on a final development plan by the Planning Commission. If a final plan is disapproved by the Planning Commission the applicant may file a final development plan that substantially conforms to the approved preliminary plan, or the applicant may file for an amendment to the approved preliminary development plan.
- C. After a final development plan is approved by the Planning Commission, the Building Inspector shall record such plan in the Tipton County Register's Office after receiving receipt of any necessary bonds, fees and contracts to provide improvements required in the City of Covington Subdivision Regulations and the required signatures for recordation have been secured.

<u>Site Plan Review</u>. All site plan reviews required under the provisions of this Zoning Ordinance shall be completed prior to application for approval of any final development plan for any Planned Development.

Section K. Zoning Administration – Permits

The Building Official may issue building permits for the area of the Planned Development covered by the approved final development plan for work in conformity with the approved final development plan and with all other applicable Ordinances and regulations. However, the Building Official shall not issue an occupancy permit for any building or structure shown on the final development plan of any stage of the Planned Development unless the open space and public facilities allocated to that stage of the development schedule have been conveyed to the designated public agency or Homeowners' Association or a responsible party. The Building Official shall issue a certificate of occupancy for any completed building or structure located in an area covered by the approved final development plan if the completed building or structures conforms to the requirements of the approved final development plan and all other applicable regulations and Ordinances.

Section L. <u>Reapplication if Denied</u>

If any application for a Planned Development is denied by the legislative body, a reapplication pertaining to the same property and requesting the same Development may not be filed within twelve (12) months of the date final action was taken on the previous application unless such reapplication is initiated by the Planning Commission or authorized by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen.

Section M. Procedure for Amendment

A Planned Development and the approved preliminary development plan may be amended in accordance with the procedure that governed its approval as set forth in this Section.

Section 3. BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that this Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its passage after third and final reading, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.

Passed First Reading

Mayor

Passed Second Reading

Recorder-Treasurer

Public Hearing

Passed Third Reading

PROCLAMATION

NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK MAY 18-24, 2025

"PEOPLE, PURPOSE, PRESENCE"

WHEREAS, public works professionals focus on infrastructure, facilities, and services that are of vital importance to sustainable and resilient communities and to public health, high quality of life, and well-being of the people of Covington, Tennessee; and,

WHEREAS, these infrastructure, facilities, an services could not be provided without the dedicated efforts of public works professionals, who are engineers, managers, and employees at all levels of government and the private sector, who are responsible for rebuilding, improving, and protecting our nation's transportation, water supply, water treatment and solid waste systems, public buildings, and other structures and facilities essential for our citizens; and,

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest for the citizens, civic leaders, and children in Covington, Tennessee to gain knowledge of and maintain an ongoing interest and understanding of the importance of public works and public works programs in their respective communities; and,

WHEREAS, the year 2025 marks the 65th annual National Public Works Week sponsored by the American Public Works Association/Canadian Public Works Association; and,

NOW, BE IT THEREFORE, I, Jan Wade Hensley, Mayor of the City of Covington, Tennessee, do hereby proclaim the week of May 18–24, 2025, as

NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK

and I urge all our citizens to join with representatives of the American Public Works Association and government agencies in activities, events, and ceremonies designed to pay tribute to our public works professionals, engineers, managers, and employees and to recognize the substantial contributions they make to protecting our national health, safety, and advancing quality of life for all. This the 13th day of May 2025.

Jan Wade Hensley, Mayor

Lisa S. Elam, Recorder-Treasurer

